1987

Lanier Brugh, Inc v. Bernice Steward : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Was the Industrial Commission correct in concluding that the decedent's death was the result of an injury by accident arising out of or during the course of his employment; or was decedent's death the result of a non-compensable heart attack that occurred as the result of an underlying heart condition and not because of his employment?

More specifically, the issue may be stated as follows: Was there substantial competent evidence in the record to warrant a finding of both legal causation and medical causation linking decedent's death with activities of his employment?

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES

Section 35-1-45 COMPENSATION FOR INDUSTRIAL ACCIDENTS TO BE PAID

Section 35-1-77 MEDICAL PANEL-DISCRETIONARY AUTHORITY OF COMMISSION TO REFER CASE - FINDINGS AND REPORTS - OBJECTIONS TO REPORT HEARING EXPENSES

Section 35-1-82.54 REVIEW OF CASES AND ORDERS BY COMMISSION-PROCEDURES - EFFECT OF AWARD

Section 35-1-83 REVIEW BY COURT OF APPEALS
WORKERS' COMPENSATION RULES & REGULATIONS, RULE 1.2.33

(See Appendix I for Text of Statutes)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings, and Disposition by the Industrial Commission.

This case arises under the Utah Workers' Compensation Act, and the Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to §78-2a-3, Utah Code Annotated (1953, as amended). The applicant, Bernice Steward, widow of Dale W. Steward, filed a Claim for Dependent's Benefits and/or Burial Benefits on February 17, 1986. (R 2). An evidentiary hearing was held on November 5, 1986 (R 19). On May 28, 1987 an Order was entered by Administrative Law Judge Richard G. Sumsion entitling Bernice Steward to dependent's benefits. (R 268) Said Order was based upon a finding by the Administrative Law Judge that the applicant had met her burden of proof in establishing both legal and medical causation and that the decedent's death was precipitated by the conditions of his employment.

On June 12, 1987 appellants - Workers' Compensation Fund of Utah moved for review of the order. (R 276) The Industrial Commission denied the Motion for Review, and adopted the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law of the Administrative Law Judge. (R 286) (See orders attached as Appendices II and III).

B. STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. On November 11, 1985 Dale W. Steward, the decedent, was employed as a truck driver for Lanier Brugh Corporation. Lanier Brugh is a contract carrier with the United States Postal Service for delivery of mail between various locations. (R 30-32)

2. Mr. Steward's job entailed driving a truck between Salt Lake City and Denver. On November 11, 1985 Steward departed from Salt Lake City at approximately 5:30 A.M. (R 27, 31)

3. Mr. Steward drove through a snow storm on the way to Denver, and arrived at approximately 5:30 P.M. on November 11, 1985. (R 44, 49)

4. Mr. Steward commenced his return trip to Salt Lake City at approximately 11:15 P.M. on November 11, 1985. (R 86)

5. Approximately fifteen to thirty minutes after Mr. Steward had departed Denver for Salt Lake City, his truck was observed moving over two lanes of traffic to his left. The truck then hit the median and lodged on top of it. (R 104) The accident report indicates that Mr. Steward died of a heart attack prior to the truck coming to rest on the median. (R 99)

6. Mr. Steward's body was transported to Humana Hospital where it was determined that the cause of death was "apparent acute myocardial infarction." (R 3)

7. At the time of the accident the road was dry and there were no adverse weather conditions. (R 99-100)

8. At the time of the accident, Mr. Steward had been taking

dexedrine or dextroamphetamine because he suffered from narcolepsy. (R 38, 46, 111-112)

9. At the date of his death, decedent was 56 years old. (R 55)

10. Mr. Steward had a 36 year smoking history in which he would smoke approximately one and one half packs of cigarettes a day. (R 55)

11. Mr. Steward was diagnosed as having emphysema. (R 55, 125)

12. Mr. Steward was, at the time of his death, approximately five feet nine inches tall, and about 200 pounds.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Section 35-1-45, Utah Code Annotated (1953, as amended) provides for an award of benefits to the dependents of an employee who is killed "by accident arising out of or in the course of his employment" In order for such an accident to be compensable, the claimant must show that the decedent's employment was both the legal cause and the medical cause of his death.

Because decedent had several risk factors for heart disease (a pre-existing condition), to show legal causation the claimant must prove that decedent put forth unusual or extraordinary exertion in carrying out his employment duties. Inasmuch as decedent did not put forth any such unusual exertion, decedent's employment did not contribute anything substantial to increase the risk he already faced in non-employment life. Accordingly,

decedent's employment was not the legal cause of his death, and the claim is not compensable.

The Industrial Commission also erred in concluding that decedent's death was medically caused by his employment. There is no competent evidence in the record to support a finding of a medically demonstrable causal link between any work related exertion and decedent's death. Therefore, the Commission's findings regarding this issue are arbitrary and capricious, and subject to reversal.

Further, in determining that medical causation existed, the Administrative Law Judge improperly took judicial notice of, and relied upon medical literature which was not introduced into evidence at the hearing thereby precluding defendants from providing countering evidence and authority. The administrative law judge also failed to refer the case to a medical panel contrary to the Commission's own rules. (See Workers' Compensation Rules and Regulations attached as Appendix IV.) The Commission failed to review all of the evidence and record as the transcript of the hearing was not prepared until after the Petition for Writ of Review was served.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE "ALLEN TEST," BECAUSE THE DECEDENT HAD A PRE-EXISTING CONDITION WHICH CONTRIBUTED TO HIS INJURY, AND HE DID NOT PUT FORTH UNUSUAL OR EXTRAORDINARY EXERTION, DECEDENT'S EMPLOYMENT WAS NOT THE LEGAL CAUSE OF HIS DEATH, AND THEREFORE THE ACCIDENT IS NOT COMPENSABLE.

Section 35-1-45, Utah Code Annotated (1953, as amended) provides for an award of benefits to the dependents of an employee who is killed "by [an] accident arising out of or in the course of his employment. . . ." While the Workers' Compensation Act does not define this phrase, the recent case of Allen v. Industrial Commission, 729 P2d 15 (Utah 1986) sets forth the analysis to be followed in accident cases involving internal failures. In Allen, the sole issue on appeal was whether the claimant who had suffered pre-existing back problems and was injured as the result of exertion usual and typical for his job, was injured "by accident arising out of or in the course of employment." In addressing this issue, the Utah Supreme Court set forth as follows:

This statute creates two prerequisites for a finding of a compensable injury. First, the injury must be "by accident." Second, the language "arising out of or in the course of employment" requires that there be a causal connection between the injury and the employment.

* * *

The language "arising out of or in the course of his employment" found in U.C.A., 1953, Section 35-1-45 (Supp. 1986), was apparently intended to ensure that compensation is only awarded where there is a sufficient causal connection between the disability and the working conditions. The causation requirement makes it necessary to distinguish those injuries which (a) coincidentally occur at work because a preexisting condition results in symptoms which appear during work hours without any enhancement from the work place, and (b) those injuries which occur because some condition or exertion required by the employment increases the risk of injury which the worker normally faces in his everyday

life. See Bryant v. Masters Machine Co., 44 A.2d 329, 337 (Me. 1982). Only the latter type of injury is compensable under U.C.A., 1953, Section 35-1-45. There is no fixed formula by which the causation issue may be resolved, and the issue must be determined on the facts of each case.

Professor Larson has suggested a two-part causation test which is consistent with the purpose of our workers' compensation laws and helpful in determining causation. We therefore adopt that test. Larson suggests that compensable injuries can best be identified by first considering the legal cause of the injury and then its medical cause. Larson, *supra* Section 38.83 (a), at 7-273. "Under the legal test, the law must define what kind of exertion satisfies the test of 'arising out of the employment'...[then] the doctors must say whether the exertion (having been held legally sufficient to support compensation) in fact caused this [injury]." Larson, *supra* Section 38.83 (a), at -276 to -277.

1. Legal Cause - Whether an injury arose out of or in the course of employment is difficult to determine where the employee brings to the work place a personal element of risk such as preexisting condition.

* * *

To meet the legal causation requirement, a claimant with a preexisting condition must show that the employment contributed something substantial to increase the risk he already faced in everyday life because of his condition. This additional element of risk in the work place is usually supplied by an exertion greater than that undertaken in normal, everyday life. This extra exertion serves to offset the preexisting condition of the employee as a likely cause of the injury thereby eliminating claims for impairments resulting from a personal risk rather than exertions at work. Larson, supra, Section 38.83 (b), at 2-278. Larson summarized how the legal cause rule would work in practice as follows:

If there is some personal causal contribution in the form of a [preexisting condition], the employment contribution must take the form of an exertion greater than that of nonemployment life....

If there is no personal causal contribution, that is, if there is no prior weakness or disease, any exertion connected with the employment and causally connected with the [injury] as a matter of medical fact is adequate to satisfy the legal test of causation.

Id. Thus, where the claimant suffers from a preexisting condition which contributes to the injury, an unusual or extraordinary exertion is required to prove legal causation. Where there is no preexisting condition, a usual or ordinary exertion is sufficient.

729 P2d at 18, 24-26

Regarding the legal causation requirement, it is appellant's contention that the Administrative Law Judge misapplied the Allen legal causation standard. In his Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order, the Administrative Law Judge used the lower standard of the Allen test which assumes that usual or ordinary exertion is sufficient to show legal causation when there is no pre-existing condition.

The Judge stated, "In Mr. Steward's case, there is no evidence of any previously diagnosed heart condition." (R. 270)

Appellant's take exception to the utilization of this lower legal causation standard, and contend that inasmuch as the decedent had several risk factors for heart disease, the higher standard of causation as outlined in Allen was the appropriate test to use. The risk factors included a 36 year smoking habit in which decedent smoked one and one-half packs of cigarettes a day,

high levels of amphetamine use prescribed for narcolepsy, emphysema, and obesity. (R.55, 94, 125) In addition, decedent at the time of his death, was 56 years of age. Further, prior to his death, the decedent had demonstrated other suspicious symptoms of heart problems. In fact, Dr. M. Peter Heilbrun indicated on November 18, 1985 that, "In retrospect, it makes me wonder if some of [Dale Steward's] recent neck and shoulder pain was possibly myocardial in origin." (R. 135)

It should also be noted that the pre-existing condition of which Allen speaks need not be patent nor "previously diagnosed." See Justice Zimmerman's concurring opinion in Holloway v. Industrial Commission, 729 P2d 31, 32 (Utah 1986) wherein it was stated:

With respect to the focus of this case on remand-whether Holloway had a preexisting condition-I would observe that the preexisting condition of which Allen speaks need not be patent; in fact, it need not have been known or knowable to anyone before the injury. The sole question is whether the worker came to the work place with a condition that increased his risk of injury. If he did and that condition contributed to the injury, then Allen's higher standard of legal causation comes into play so as to place that worker on the same footing as one who did not come to work with a preexisting condition.

It is appellants contention that the decedent came to the workplace with pre-existing conditions (heart disease and narcolepsy treated by amphetamines),. Therefore, before legal causation can be established there must be a finding that the employment activities of decedent involved exertion in excess of the normally expected level of nonemployment activity. Decedent

was diagnosed as having narcolepsy and he had a predisposition to fatal arrhythmia due to his amphetamine consumption to treat his narcolepsy. (R 111 and 288 paragraphs 4 & 5) That is, decedent at the time of his death, was taking dexedrine and ritalin for treatment of his narcolepsy. (R 130, 132, 133). The use of these prescribed drugs makes one more susceptible to suffering a fatal arrhythmia. (See Physician's Desk Reference attached as Appendix V). Accordingly, because decedent was predisposed to suffering a fatal arrhythmia, he had a pre-existing condition. The higher standard requiring unusual exertion should have been utilized.

In the Order Denying Motion for Review, the Industrial Commission states that even if the unusual exertion standard was applied, the facts relate exertion and/or stress that goes beyond what the average person encounters in everyday nonemployment life; specifically, that decedent had to drive on snow covered roads, he had little rest in between the trip to Denver and the return trip to Salt Lake City, and that decedent had been taking amphetamines. (R. 287). Appellants refute this contention and maintain that the facts do not support a finding that decedent put forth an exertion greater than that of nonemployment life.

In this case the decedent had not undergone any unusual or extraordinary exertion in the time frame immediately preceding his fatal heart attack. At the time of his heart attack, the decedent was just outside of Denver, Colorado. (R 86). The road conditions were clear and dry. (R 99-100. See also photographs of accident scene at R 101). Further, decedent had been driving only

15 to 30 minutes on his return trip to Salt Lake City after a five hour and forty-five minute layover in Denver when he suffered the heart attack. (R 44, 49, 86)

Decedent's employment did not contribute anything substantial to increase the risk he already faced in everyday life. Rather, the heart attack coincidentally occurred during work hours without any enhancement from the work place or conditions surrounding his work place. Accordingly, because decedent's heart attack was not legally caused by his employment, the "accident" herein did not "arise out of or in the course of employment," and is therefore not compensable.

Moreover, because the Commission's findings are not supported by the facts in the record, the finding is arbitrary and capricious and subject to reversal. Kaiser Steel Corporation v. Monfredi, 631 P.2d 888 (Utah 1981). For other recent Utah cases which are consistent with Allen, and supportive of appellants position, see the following: Holloway v. Industrial Commission, 729 P.2d 31 (Utah 1986); Price River Coal v. Industrial Commission, 731 P.2d 1080 (Utah, 1981); Hone v. J.F. Shea Company, 728 P.2d 1008 (Utah, 1986).

POINT II

THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT A FINDING THAT THE STRESS OR EXERTION REQUIRED BY DECEDENT'S JOB WAS THE MEDICAL CAUSE OF HIS DEATH.

ACCORDINGLY, BECAUSE THERE IS NO MEDICALLY DEMONSTRABLE CAUSAL LINK BETWEEN THE WORK-RELATED EXERTIONS AND THE DEATH, THE ACCIDENT IS NOT COMPENSABLE.

The Industrial Commission concluded that there was a medically demonstrable causal link between decedent's work-related exertions and his death. Inasmuch as this conclusion is not supported by substantial medical evidence, appellant asserts that the finding of medical causation is arbitrary and capricious.

As with the issue of legal causation, Allen is an appropriate place to begin a discussion concerning medical causation. The Utah Supreme Court set forth the following:

[10] 2. Medical Cause-The second part of Larson's dual-causation test requires that the claimant prove the disability is medically the result of an exertion or injury that occurred during a work-related activity. The purpose of the medical cause test is to ensure that there is a medically demonstrable causal link between the work related exertions and the unexpected injuries that resulted from those strains. The medical causal requirement will prevent an employer from becoming a general insurer of his employees and discourage fraudulent claims. With the issue being one primarily of causation, the importance of the medical panel becomes manifest. It is through the expertise of the medical panel that the Commission should be able to make the determination of whether the injury sustained by a claimant is causally connected or contributed to by the claimant's employment.

Schmidt, 617 P.2d at 697 (Wilkins, J., concurring). Under the medical cause test, the claimant must show by evidence, opinion, or otherwise that the stress, strain, or exertion required by his or her occupation led to the resulting injury or disability. In the event the claimant cannot show a medical causal connection, compensation should be denied. (Emphasis added)

729 P.2d at 27.

Thus, in accordance with Allen, in order for an accident to be compensable, it must be determined that the injury was medically caused by the stress, strain, or exertion required by ones employment.

In the proceedings below, the Administrative Law Judge held- and the Industrial Commission affirmed-that medical causation was established because the extra stress the decedent faced during the 24 hours preceding his death most likely led to the arrhythmia which resulted in the fatal heart attack.

The extra stress factors cited by the Administrative Law Judge included:

1. Anxiety caused by the late arrival of decedent's truck thereby delaying his departure from Salt Lake City.
2. Fatigue from having to drive on slippery roads and during a snow storm, both to and from Denver.
3. Fatigue from inadequate rest prior to his departure from Denver.
4. The use of amphetamines, probably in greater amounts than usual because of the lack of adequate rest. (R. 270)

It should be noted at this juncture that two of the above referenced stress factors are not supported by the factual record in this case. Specifically, there is no competent evidence in the record that the decedent was driving on a slippery road "both to and from Denver." Road conditions at the time of the decedent's return trip from Denver were, as noted earlier, clear and dry. Also, the decedent's use of amphetamines was not due to "lack of

adequate rest." Rather, the decedent had a long-standing condition of narcolepsy which was treated through prescription use of high doses of amphetamines. The Judge's statement that the use of amphetamines was increased due to the decedent's level of fatigue as a result of his truck driving just prior to the time of his heart attack was not argued at the hearing and assumes facts not supported by the record. It is appellants' belief that the record is void of any substantial evidence which would support a finding of medical causation.

In concluding that the medical causation standard was met, the Administrative Law Judge quoted and adopted the entire report of Dr. Perry. (R 270-272) Interestingly, Dr. Perry indicated that the decedent's heart attack was idiopathic. (R 111-112). However, the Administrative Law Judge found that the four factors outlined above precipitated the decedent's fatal heart attack.

Appellant's aver that the Administrative Law Judge's opinion that the noted factors were the medical cause of the decedent's heart attack oversteps the bounds of a fact finder and a judge charged to rule in matters of law. A lay person is not qualified to propound medical opinion. In this matter, the Administrative Law Judge was not weighing and choosing between competing medical opinions in the record. The judge, though stating he relied on the report of Dr. Perry, in reality disregarded the key points.

I think trauma can be excluded with a
reasonable degree of confidence in this
case . . .

* * * *

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