1987

# Lanier Brugh, Inc v. Bernice Steward : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I: The Utah Supreme Court has pointed out on a number of occasions that an appellate court's review of Findings of Fact made by the Industrial Commission is strictly limited and is not based on agreement with the Commission's findings or whether the findings are supported by a preponderance of the evidence. The reviewing court's sole inquiry is,

whether the Commission's findings are 'arbitrary or capricious,' or 'wholly without cause' or contrary to the 'one [inevitable] conclusion from the evidence' or without 'any substantial evidence' to support them. Only then should the Commission's findings be displaced. Kaiser Steel Corporation v. Monfredi, 631 P.2d 888, 890 (Utah 1981).

In this matter, the Administrative Law Judge, affirmed by the Industrial Commission, correctly found that Mr. Steward had no preexisting heart condition or other preexisting conditions, allowing Mrs. Steward to establish legal causation by showing "any exertion connected with his employment." Allen v. Industrial Commission, 729 P.2d 15, 29 (Utah 1986).

POINT II: Mrs. Steward established by uncontroverted evidence that Mr. Steward was under unusual stress and was extremely fatigued at the time of death. He had had a sleepless night on November 10-11, had driven for 12 hours to Denver over icy roads, and had had a short, 5 to 6 hour layover with apparently no sleep before beginning his return to Salt Lake City. Legal causation was established even if the "unusual exertion" standard of Allen is applied.

POINT III: Medical causation was established by evidence from Dr. Heilbrun tying Mr. Steward's death to stress and fatigue and by the causation factors for cardiac arrhythmias referred to by Dr. Perry and of which the Administrative Law Judge properly took judicial notice pursuant to Rule 201, Utah Rules of Evidence. Section 35-1-77, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended, provides that the Commission may refer the medical aspects of a case to a medical panel. The Commission's use of a medical panel is thus permissive. Given the facts surrounding Mr. Steward's death, including his lack of sleep over the prior 26 hours, the evidence of a causal relationship between the stress and fatigue and Mr. Steward's death was not uncertain or highly technical.

POINT IV: The Commission properly reviewed the entire record in this matter as provided in Section 35-1-82.54, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended. Even if a transcript of the testimony were not reviewed, which has not been established, the Commission had available the summary of testimony prepared by the Administrative Law Judge.

#### ARGUMENT

POINT I. THE DECEDENT HAD NO PREEXISTING HEART CONDITION OR OTHER PREEXISTING CONDITIONS AND WAS ENTITLED TO USE THE "ANY EXERTION" STANDARD OF ALLEN TO ESTABLISH LEGAL CAUSATION

As the Workers' Compensation Fund has pointed out, the Administrative Law Judge in this matter found that the decedent, Dale Steward, had no "previously diagnosed heart condition". (R. 270) This finding is not controverted in any of the evidence before the Commission. The Fund refers to various "risk" factors but the fact remains that Mr. Steward had never previously been diagnosed as having heart problems and no medical examination before or after his death indicated the presence of preexisting heart disease.

The Fund refers to a comment of Dr. M. Peter Heilbrun, Mr. Steward's treating physician for a number of years for a prior industrial-related back injury, wherein Dr. Heilbrun stated: "In retrospect, it makes me wonder if some of his recent neck and shoulder pain was possibly myocardial in origin." (R. 135)

Dr. Heilbrun's comment was made in a November 18, 1985 letter to Dr. Gerald Moress, another of Mr. Steward's treating physicians, and appears to have been simply a question. Other evidence from Dr. Heilbrun adequately supports the finding of

the Administrative Law Judge. In a letter dated July 25, 1986, Dr. Heilbrun explained as follows:

Mr. Dale Steward was treated by me over several years, from the time of his industrial injury of August 1, 1975, to his death in 1985.

I last saw Mr. Steward on July 29, 1985 at which time he was having further neck pain which suggested evidence of persistent degenerative osteoarthritis without evidence of sufficient root compression. In addition, he had evidence of left shoulder pain secondary to either bicipital tendonitis impingement syndrome of the humeral head or a small rotator cuff tear. He improved with local injection by Dr. Ronald Mann.

It should be noted that, although Mr. Steward had evidence of musculo-skeletal disease, his apparent cause of death was a myocardial infarction while driving a truck.

He had no prior history of cardiac disease, thus his death should be considered to be an industrial-related [sic] cardiac event. (R. 245)

In addition to Dr. Heilbrun's statements, Dr. Moress had performed a physical examination of Mr. Steward on October 11, 1985, at which time he noted as follows:

From a health standpoint, he has been diagnosed as having emphysema. He continues to smoke two packs a day.

On examination blood pressure is 120/80, no carotid bruits, normal fundiscopic, normal pharynx. (R. 133)

At prior examinations on April 24, 1981, and September 27, 1980, Dr. Moress indicated on both occasions that Mr. Steward's blood pressure was 120/80 and noted no signs of heart trouble or heart disease. (R. 129, 131)

The only medical evidence presented by the Fund was a letter from J. Joseph Perry, M.D., to Shaun Howell, attorney for the Fund. Dr. Perry's conclusion is as follows:

In terms of medical probability it is most likely that [Dale Steward] experienced a fatal cardiac arrhythmia while driving, lost consciousness a few seconds later

thus losing control of the vehicle and having the accident as reported. It is possible that his dextroamphetamine was related to his death because it may worsen arrhythmias in susceptible [sic] individuals. (R. 111)

Dr. Perry made no other conclusion with regard to preexisting heart disease in Mr. Steward and there was thus no substantial medical evidence before the Administrative Law Judge to indicate that Mr. Steward had any heart condition.

The standard of review by an appellate court of Industrial Commission orders has been well explained in several opinions of the Utah Supreme Court. In Kaiser Steel Corporation v. Monfredi, 631 P.2d 288 (Utah 1981), the Utah Supreme Court, after reviewing a number of Utah cases, stated as follows:

Under any of these standards--Kavalinakis, Kent, or Norris--it is apparent that this court's function in reviewing Commission findings of fact is a strictly limited one in which the question is not whether the Court agrees with the Commission's findings or whether they are supported by the preponderance of evidence. Instead, the reviewing court's inquiry is whether the Commission's findings are 'arbitrary or capricious,' or 'wholly without cause' or contrary to the 'one [inevitable] conclusion from the evidence' or without 'any substantial evidence' to support them. Only then should the Commission's findings be displaced. Id. at 890.

It is clear in this case that there was substantial evidence to support the Administrative Law Judge's finding that Mr. Steward had no preexisting heart disease.

The Administrative Law Judge also found that one of the contributing factors to his stress was "the use of amphetamines, probably in greater amounts than usual because of the lack of adequate rest." (R. 270) The Judge's findings were based on references in the record to use of amphetamines by Mr. Steward. For example, his wife indicated during the November 5, 1986 hearing that Mr. Steward had been taking 10 milligrams of



Dexedrine, and that the dosage had recently been increased to 15 milligrams by Dr. Moress. (R. 38-40, 57) Mrs. Steward testified that he usually only took the medication while he was working:

Q How often would he take that medication?

A When he needed it.

But he wouldn't take it at home. He'd only take it while he was working, so he could stay awake. (R. 40)

\* \* \*

Q Did he have problems staying awake when he was home?

A Yes, he did.

Q What would he do?

A Well, only once in a great while, if it really got bad, well, then he'd take one and that. But he wouldn't take it towards the evening, he'd take it towards morning because he'd want to spend time with us. (R. 41)

Mrs. Steward referred to Mr. Steward's sleep condition as narcolepsy. (R. 38) In his initial reports with regard to Mr. Steward, Dr. Moress refers to possible narcolepsy. (R. 130, 131) Dr. Heilbrun refers on several occasions to Dr. Moress's treatment of Mr. Steward for narcolepsy. (R. 149, R. 255) Dr. Perry, however, felt that narcolepsy had not been securely diagnosed:

Complicating the issue is the mention of narcolepsy in the medical record. The patient had a history of sudden sleep attacks while driving and had been treated by amphetamines by his physician for several years prior to his demise. I find no studies in the records to document narcolepsy, thus this diagnosis is not secure in this individual. (R. 111)

The Administrative Law Judge made no finding that Mr. Steward suffered from narcolepsy or that narcolepsy was a preexisting medical condition. Although the Industrial Commission refers to narcolepsy in its Order Denying Motion for Review (R. 286), this reference does not amount to a finding.

Pursuant to the findings of the Administrative Law Judge, therefore, Mr. Steward was taking amphetamines at the time of his accident, but the use of amphetamines was directly related to his employment and was necessary for him to remain awake and alert while driving. This use of prescribed medication does not constitute a preexisting condition as defined in Allen v. Industrial Commission, 729 P.2d 15 (Utah 1986).

POINT II: EVEN IF A PREEXISTING CONDITION IS  
FOUND TO EXIST, DECEDENT STEWARD  
EXPERIENCED UNUSUAL EXERTION

Pursuant to the factors set forth in Allen v. Industrial Commission, supra, since Mr. Steward did not bring to his work "a personal element of risk such as a preexisting condition", Id. at 25, any employment-related exertion is enough to establish legal causation.

If there is no personal causal contribution, that is, if there is no prior weakness or disease, any exertion connected with the employment and causally connected with the [injury] as a matter of medical fact is adequate to satisfy the legal test of causation. Id. at 26, citing Larson, Workman's Compensation, Sec. 38.83 (b), at 7-278.

Even if it were determined that Mr. Steward had a preexisting condition, the facts in this proceeding establish that Mr. Steward experienced "exertion greater than that undertaken in normal, everyday life", Allen, supra, at 25, or "an unusual or extraordinary

exertion." Id. at 26. The Administrative Law Judge heard undisputed testimony establishing that Mr. Steward had had little sleep for at least 26 hours prior to his death. Between 7:00 and 9:00 P.M. on November 10, 1985, he learned that his truck would be delayed. (R. 27) From at least that time until his departure at 5:30 A.M. on November 11, he did not go to bed and called the dispatcher for his employer on several occasions through the night to determine if his truck had arrived. (R. 28-29) When he called Mrs. Steward at 6:20 P.M. on November 11 from Denver, he indicated he was very tired and that he would not be able to sleep before leaving to return to Salt Lake at 11:00 P.M. (R. 30-32) According to Mrs. Steward, Mr. Steward's truck had never been as late as it was on November 10-11 and he had never had such a short layover in Denver. (R. 33, 59-60)

As indicated by uncontroverted testimony, Mr. Steward experienced unusual or extraordinary stress and fatigue prior to his death. The evidence provides a more than adequate basis for the Administrative Law Judge's finding that Mrs. Steward had established legal causation, even if the higher standard which comes into play when a preexisting condition exists is used.

POINT III. THE COMMISSION PROPERLY DETERMINED  
THAT MEDICAL CAUSATION WAS ESTABLISHED

The court in the Allen case, supra, summarized the claimant's responsibility as follows:

Under the medical cause test, the claimant must show by evidence, opinion, or otherwise that the stress, strain, or exertion required by his or her occupation led to the resulting injury or disability. Id. at 27.

Mrs. Steward presented evidence establishing the extreme fatigue and stress under which her husband was functioning at the time of his death. It is significant that the Fund's physician, Dr. Perry, apparently was not presented with information about the stress and fatigue factors, since nowhere in his letter does he mention Mr. Steward's schedule, his lack of sleep, or the effects on him of the adverse weather conditions he experienced while driving to Denver. (R. 110-111)

In a letter dated November 28, 1986, Dr. Heilbrun stated he had reviewed the fatigue and stress factors and noted as follows:

As I stated in my note of July 25, 1986, addressed 'To Whom It May Concern', I believe that, with the stress surrounding the driving and delivery requirements of Mr. Steward's job, I agree with Dr. Perry there is a reasonable medical probability that the patient suffered a fatal arrhythmia while driving and, thus, his death should be considered an industrial related [sic] cardiac event. (R. 255)

Although the findings and order of the Administrative Law Judge do not refer to Dr. Heilbrun's letter, counsel for Mrs. Steward received permission from the Judge to submit the letter (R. 92), and it was provided to opposing counsel and the Judge and made part of the record. (R. 254-256)

In sum, Dr. Heilbrun reviewed the stress and fatigue factors not addressed by Dr. Perry and determined they were contributing factors to Mr. Steward's death. No evidence of any nature contradicting Dr. Heilbrun's conclusion has been presented by the Fund.

Apart from the November 28 letter from Dr. Heilbrun, the Administrative Law Judge took judicial notice of a chart reproduced in the Order Denying Motion for Review of the Industrial Commission. (R. 287-288) As noted by the Commission, the chart constituted "consensus medical opinion that stress, fatigue and stimulants are all common precipitating causes of cardiac arrhythmias." (R. 287) The Fund makes much of the fact that the chart was not introduced during the hearing itself and asserts that the Fund was entitled to be afforded an opportunity to refute the judicially noted information. The Administrative Law Judge's consideration of the material, however, was entirely appropriate and is supported by the Utah Rules of Evidence, case law, and statutes.

Rule 201 of the Utah Rules of Evidence provides that a court may take judicial notice of adjudicative facts "capable of accurate and ready determination by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned." (Rule 201(b)(2) ) The court may take judicial notice upon its own initiative (Rule 201(c) ) and, upon timely request, a party is entitled to be heard concerning the "propriety of taking judicial notice and the tenor of the matter noticed. In the absence of prior notification, the request may be made after judicial notice has been taken." (Rule 201(e) ) It is significant that judicial notice may be taken at any stage of a proceeding. (Rule 201(f) )

Although Rule 201 provides a mechanism for the Fund to be heard with regard to the Administrative Law Judge's taking of judicial notice, the Fund made no request to be heard and should

not be allowed to complain at this stage of the proceedings that it could not object to the material.

The Fund makes reference to a recent Colorado case, Prestige Homes, Inc. v. Legouffe, 658 P.2d 850 (Colo. 1983), wherein the Colorado Supreme Court held that the Colorado Court of Appeals improperly took judicial notice of certain medical treatises in overturning an Industrial Commission order. The court properly noted that judicial notice is cautiously used, Id. at 853, but the facts in the present situation are distinguishable from those in the Legouffe case. First, the Court of Appeals in Legouffe took judicial notice of medical information to overrule the specific fact findings of the Industrial Commission's referee. The appellate court used certain medical treatises to discredit the considered opinion of an expert medical witness concerning medical effects of contact by the decedent with a 220 volt power line. Id. at 853-854. The Supreme Court in Legouffe was justifiably critical of the appellate court's attempt to place itself in the position of the finder of fact.

By contrast, in the present case judicial notice was taken by the Administrative Law Judge of a table considered by the Commission to be "consensus medical opinion." (R. 287) The material is not in conflict with any of the medical opinions in the case and simply supplements evidence already before the court. Dr. Perry himself referred to certain factors which may cause a fatal cardiac arrhythmia, including drug use (R. 111) and coronary artery disease. (R. 112) As noted previously,

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